














From: Minister of Transport / Ministre des Transports (TC) <TC.MinisterofTransport-
MinistredesTransports.TC@tc.gc.ca>  
Sent: Monday, April 3, 2023 11:31 AM 
To: Power, Gerald William <Gerald.W.Power@halifax.ca> 
Subject: [External Email] Infilling on the Northwest Arm of Halifax Harbour 
 
[This email has been received from an external person or system] 
 
 
April 3, 2023 
 
 
Cathie O’Toole 
Chief Administrative Officer 
Halifax Regional Municipality 
 
c/o Gerald Power 
CAO Reports & Executive Assistant 
Gerald.W.Power@halifax.ca 
 
 
Dear Cathie: 
 
I am writing regarding correspondence from your predecessor, Jacques Dubé, concerning infilling on the 
Northwest Arm of Halifax Harbour. I apologize for the delay in replying. 
 
Transport Canada continues to fulfill its responsibility by reviewing the proposed works. As part of the 
Canadian Navigable Waters Act (CNWA) regulatory approval process, each proposed work has a 30-day 
comment period that is open to anyone (including organizations, associations, government, etc.). The 
Navigation Protection Program Officer then considers all comments pertaining to navigation as part of the 
regulatory review.  
 
Regarding the Northwest Arm infilling application, Transport Canada has also met with concerned groups 
as part of a facilitated discussion hosted by the Impact Assessment Agency of Canada in response to a 
request for a regional assessment. To demonstrate the department’s openness to hear from its 
stakeholders, on two occasions, officials have also met with John Traves, Director of Legal Services and 
Chief Solicitor for the Halifax Regional Municipality, to hear the municipality’s concerns and feedback 
about infilling in and around the Northwest Arm. However, while Transport Canada considered the 
various views, it is important to underscore that the department can only render decisions related to 
impacts on navigation, and that other considerations or concerns exceed its authorities. In this regard, 
there is also an opportunity for the municipality and its provincial counterparts to examine what gaps exist 
in regulating such issues beyond navigation and how best to address them within municipal and 
provincial authorities. Should the municipality decide to pursue regulation of infilling beyond matters 
related to navigation, the municipality can expect full cooperation from Transport Canada in any effort to 
avoid jurisdictional concerns. 
 
Finally, Transport Canada will be undertaking a CNWA legislative review in 2023. Given the municipality’s 
request to have a greater role regarding infilling applications, the municipality may wish to participate in 
this review. The department will inform you when the review begins. 
 
Sincerely, 
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The Honourable Omar Alghabra, P.C., M.P. 
Minister of Transport 
 



From: Minister of Transport / Ministre des Transports (TC) <TC.MinisterofTransport-
MinistredesTransports.TC@tc.gc.ca> 
Sent: Friday, September 22, 2023 4:02 PM 
To: O'Toole, Cathie <Cathie.OToole@Halifax.ca> 
Subject: [External Email] Regarding infilling in the Northwest Arm of Halifax Harbour  
  
[This email has been received from an external person or system] 
  
September 22, 2023 
  
  
Cathie O’Toole 
Chief Administrative Officer  
Halifax Regional Municipality 
cathie.otoole@halifax.ca 
  
  
Good day: 
  
Thank you for your letter to my predecessor regarding infilling in the Northwest Arm of Halifax Harbour 
and Halifax Regional Municipality’s (HRM’s) role in infilling projects. I apologize for the delay in replying.  
Transport Canada acknowledges and supports HRM’s desire for jurisdictional boundaries to be respected 
in drafting municipal regulations for infilling on the Northwest Arm. Generally, as long as the pith and 
substance of a municipality’s regulations do not fall within federal jurisdiction over navigation and 
shipping, such as prohibiting navigation in the Northwest Arm, there should be limited opportunity for 
jurisdictional concerns. 
  
If required, the department’s Navigation Protection Program Regional Manager for the Atlantic Region, 
Carl Ripley, remains available to have further meetings with you to discuss our mandate under the 
Canadian Navigable Waters Act and outline our jurisdiction. Carl can be reached at carl.ripley@tc.gc.ca 
or 506-866-8059. We are committed to providing our full cooperation in this matter; however, we will not 
be able to provide advice on matters outside of our jurisdiction and expertise. I trust these discussions will 
assist you in drafting municipal regulations.  
  
Transport Canada greatly values HRM’s collaborative spirit and its commitment to promoting sustainable 
practices that ensure the continued accessibility and enjoyment of Canada's navigable waters. 
  
Thank you for reaching out. 
  
Sincerely, 
  
  

 
  
  
The Honourable Pablo Rodriguez, P.C., M.P. 
Minister of Transport and Quebec Lieutenant 
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Transport Transports 
Canada Canada 

 
Assistant Deputy Minister Sous-ministre adjoint 
Programs Programmes 

 
Place de Ville 
Ottawa ON K1A 0N5 

 
September 9, 2025 

 
 

His Worship Andy Fillmore 
Mayor 
Halifax Regional Municipality 
mayor@halifax.ca 

 
Dear Mayor Fillmore and Members of Halifax Regional Council: 

 
This is further to the Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM) staff report concerning the Dartmouth 
Cove water lots that will be considered at the Halifax Regional Council on September 9, 2025. 
This report, states that “Amendments prohibiting most infilling activities of water lots require 
the Federal Government’s support.” 

Consistent with written correspondence dated September 22, 2023, and March 4, 2024, and as 
communicated at meetings, including one chaired by HRM on April 22, 2024, Transport Canada 
’s responsibility as set out in the Canadian Navigable Waters Act (CNWA) is to ensure navigable 
waters remain open for transport and recreation. 

 
In fulfilling this responsibility, it considers applications for approvals of works under the CNWA. 
As typically indicated in Transport Canada’s approval letters under the CNWA, it is a proponent’s 
responsibility to comply with any other applicable laws and regulations, including those of 
municipalities. 

Any HRM decision to restrict infilling by way of bylaws is within its own authority, provided that 
the pith and substance of the Municipality’s bylaws do not fall within federal jurisdiction, 
including navigation and shipping, or apply to federal lands. 

I trust this information is helpful. Transport Canada is available to answer any question you may 
have. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

Hebert, 
 

 
Digitally signed by Hebert, 
Stephanie A 
Location: Ottawa, ON 
Date: 2025.09.09 13:10:07-04'00' 

Stephanie Hébert 
Assistant Deputy Minister, Programs 

Stephanie A 

Attachment L - Letter from Transport 
Canada to the Mayor of Halifax Regional 
Municipality - Sept 9, 2025 



Transport Transports
Canada Canada

Navigation Protection Program (NPP) Your file:
6th Floor-95 Foundry St Our file: 2022-206446
Moncton NB

E1C5H7

Canada

Registry number: 5269

April a. 2024

Bruce Wood

4197847 Nova Scotia Limited

PC Box 89

Eastem Passage, Nova Scotia B3G 1M7

Attention: Bruce Wood

RE: Approval under the Canadian Navigable Waters Act (CNWA), for the
placement of the following work below located in Dartmouth Cove,
approximately at 440 39' 51.01" N, 63" 33' 29.01" W, The Project Area (I.e., the
potential area that Is proposed to be infilled) comprises a private water lot
(PID #00114132) that occupies approximately 2.7 hectares (ha), Halifax
Regional Municipality, in the Province of Nova Scotia.

Approved work(s):
•  Fill

Please find enclosed an approval for the above-noted work issued by the Minister of Transport
under subsection 7(6) of the CNWA. This approval replaces any previous approvals that have been
issued in relation to this work (if any) and will be the sole approval for this work until such time as
a new approval is issued for any future changes.

In order to issue this approval, the Minister has considered each of the factors listed in subsection
7(7) of the Act, additional information provided by you (if applicable) and any adverse effects that
the decision to approve the work may have on the rights of the Indigenous peoples of Canada
recognized and affirmed by section 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982.

Please note that the CNWA, amongst other obligations, requires the owner to immediately notify
the Minister if the work causes or is likely to cause serious and imminent danger to navigation, to
take reasonable measures to mitigate potential dangers and to remedy any adverse effects that
result from that danger to navigation.

This approval relates only to the proposed works detailed in the drawings and plans appended to
the enclosed approval document and the interference of your work with navigation under the
CNWA. The approval does not grant any rights related to the ownership of the bed of the navigable
water.

The proponent is expected to implement the recommendations related to the Archaeological
Mitigation and Monitoring Pian, as documented in the letter, from Davis Maclntyre and Associates,
addressed to Atlantic Road Construction & Paving on February 13, 2024.

Please note that it is the owner's responsibility to comply with any other appiicable laws and
regulations including any related Halifax Regional Municipality iand-use or zoning bylaws in effect.

Please contact our office In Atlantic for any questions, by phone at 506-851-3113 or by e-
mall at NPPATL-PPNATL@tc.gc.ca.

Respectfully,

Carl RipleyJ
Regional Onager, NPP Atlantic
Programs Group
Transport Canada
Atlantic Region

Attachment(s): Canadian Navigable Waters Act approval

cc: Mike Shannon
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CDD-2

CDD-2

PID Ownership Area |SqM) Map ID

41164278 The Ancheraseat D'aiimouth CdveT'ieperty'Oeveldpinen&LTb V  S38i.6i:

00097550 Waterfront Development Corporation Limited Build Nova Scotia 4519.43 2

00130492 Build Nova Scotia" 51750.64 .  3

00130286 The Anchorage at Dartmouth Cove Property Development LTD 36605.22 4

41127069 Halifax Regional Water Commision 2639130 .3. 5

00381228 Duck Rock Holdings Incorporated 3877.25 6

00114132 4197847 Nova Scotia Limited 25314.68 ■ 7

41164286 Transport Canada 19632.22 8

00114280 Smithers Marine.Services Limited 6579.19 ■„/3
40612384 Smithers Marine Services Limited 1930.36 10

41379736 Haiifax County Confominium Corporatioo No 300 2007.46 11
40509549 City of Dartmouth, KRM 12850.98 12

41127036 HRM 149633 13
40612376 Smithers Marine Services Limited 1331.80 14

41374018 The Anchorage at Dartmouth Cove Property Development LTD 1818.06 ;15
40612996 Smithers Marine Services Limited 176.40 16

41405259 Kiiliam Properties SGP Ltd 13139 17

40509531 City of Dartmouth, HRM 1015.76 18

Map 2 - Zoning and Ownership
Dartmouth Cove Water Lots,
Dartmouth

Water Lots

Regional Centre
Land Use By-Law

Zone

CDD-2 Comprehensive Development District 2
COR Corridor
DD Downtown Dartmouth
ER-1 Established Residential 1
ER-2 Established Residential 2
ER-3 Established Residential 3
HR-1 Higher-Order Residential 1
HRI Harbour-Related Industrial
PCF Parks and Community Facilities
UC-1 University and College 1

HALIFAX
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This map is an unofficial reproduction of
a portion of the Zoning Map for the plan
area indicated.

The accuracy of any representation on
this plan is not guaranteed.
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